



January 2022 Volume 2 Issue 1

**CADTH Horizon Scan** 

# Renal Denervation for People With Hypertension



Authors: Diksha Kumar, Hannah Loshak

ISSN: 2563-6596

**Disclaimer:** The information in this document is intended to help Canadian health care decision-makers, health care professionals, health systems leaders, and policy-makers make well-informed decisions and thereby improve the quality of health care services. While patients and others may access this document, the document is made available for informational purposes only and no representations or warranties are made with respect to its fitness for any particular purpose. The information in this document should not be used as a substitute for professional medical advice or as a substitute for the application of clinical judgment in respect of the care of a particular patient or other professional judgment in any decision-making process. The Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH) does not endorse any information, drugs, therapies, treatments, products, processes, or services.

While care has been taken to ensure that the information prepared by CADTH in this document is accurate, complete, and up-to-date as at the applicable date the material was first published by CADTH, CADTH does not make any guarantees to that effect. CADTH does not guarantee and is not responsible for the quality, currency, propriety, accuracy, or reasonableness of any statements, information, or conclusions contained in any third-party materials used in preparing this document. The views and opinions of third parties published in this document do not necessarily state or reflect those of CADTH.

CADTH is not responsible for any errors, omissions, injury, loss, or damage arising from or relating to the use (or misuse) of any information, statements, or conclusions contained in or implied by the contents of this document or any of the source materials.

This document may contain links to third-party websites. CADTH does not have control over the content of such sites. Use of third-party sites is governed by the third-party website owners' own terms and conditions set out for such sites. CADTH does not make any guarantee with respect to any information contained on such third-party sites and CADTH is not responsible for any injury, loss, or damage suffered as a result of using such third-party sites. CADTH has no responsibility for the collection, use, and disclosure of personal information by third-party sites.

Subject to the aforementioned limitations, the views expressed herein are those of CADTH and do not necessarily represent the views of Canada's federal, provincial, or territorial governments or any third-party supplier of information.

This document is prepared and intended for use in the context of the Canadian health care system. The use of this document outside of Canada is done so at the user's own risk.

This disclaimer and any questions or matters of any nature arising from or relating to the content or use (or misuse) of this document will be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein, and all proceedings shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario, Canada.

The copyright and other intellectual property rights in this document are owned by CADTH and its licensors. These rights are protected by the Canadian *Copyright Act* and other national and international laws and agreements. Users are permitted to make copies of this document for non-commercial purposes only, provided it is not modified when reproduced and appropriate credit is given to CADTH and its licensors.

**About CADTH:** CADTH is an independent, not-for-profit organization responsible for providing Canada's health care decision-makers with objective evidence to help make informed decisions about the optimal use of drugs, medical devices, diagnostics, and procedures in our health care system.

Funding: CADTH receives funding from Canada's federal, provincial, and territorial governments, with the exception of Quebec.

Questions or requests for information about this report can be directed to  ${\bf Requests@CADTH.ca}$ 



# **Table of Contents**

Key Messages	5
Symplicity Spyral: A Renal Denervation System for Hypertension	5
How It Works	5
Who Might Benefit?	6
Current Practice	7
What Is the Evidence?	8
Safety	9
Availability in Canada	9
What Does It Cost?	9
Related Developments	10
Looking Ahead	10
References	12



# **List of Figures**

Figure 1: Flexible, Multielectrode Catheter Component of the Simplicity Spyral Renal Denervation System	6
Figure 2: Simplicity G3 Generator That Delivers Radiofrequency Pulses to the Treatment Location	7



## **Key Messages**

- Horizon scan reports provide brief summaries of information regarding new and emerging health technologies; Heath Technology Update articles typically focus on a single device or intervention
- These technologies are identified through the CADTH Horizon Scanning Service as topics of potential interest to health care decision-makers in Canada.
- This Horizon Scan summarizes the available information regarding an emerging technology Symplicity Spyral a renal denervation system for the treatment of uncontrolled hypertension.

# Symplicity Spyral: A Renal Denervation System for Hypertension

As an alternative or adjunct treatment to pharmacological therapy, Symplicity Spyral is a second-generation renal denervation (RDN) system designed to reduce blood pressure (BP) in people with uncontrolled hypertension.

#### How It Works

The sympathetic nervous system, which is in charge of regulating the body's fight-or-flight response, innervates several organ systems, including major structural components of the kidneys. Increased activity of the renal sympathetic nervous system is known to be 1 of the possible mechanisms of hypertension. Sympathetic nerve fibres may be overactivated in patients with hypertension, which, through a chain of pathophysiological changes, results in increased volume of blood in the circulatory system as well as increased resistance of blood vessels. These factors subsequently increase BP. RDN is a minimally invasive procedure that reverses the activation of sympathetic nerves in the renal artery using radiofrequency pulses to decrease their activity, which can in turn lower BP.

Medtronic's Symplicity Spyral RDN system consists of 2 main components: a flexible, multielectrode catheter that is used to reach the treatment location in the patient's renal artery wall (Figure 1) and a radiofrequency generator that delivers controlled, low-power pulses of energy according to a programmed treatment algorithm (Figure 2).<sup>2,3</sup> The procedure begins by introducing a catheter into the femoral artery through a small incision in the groin.<sup>4</sup> Under fluoroscopic control, the catheter is then advanced into the renal artery, where it delivers low-power pulses of radiofrequency energy produced by the generator.<sup>4</sup> The pulses ablate renal sympathetic nerves in multiple locations, which reduces nerve activity, with the subsequent goal of decreasing BP.<sup>4</sup> This procedure is performed bilaterally, on both kidneys, during the treatment session.<sup>4</sup>



# Who Might Benefit?

Hypertension affects approximately 1.28 billion adults worldwide, and only 1 in 5 of those adults achieve the target BP necessary to control the condition.<sup>5</sup> In the Canadian context, 23% of Canadian adults were reported to have been diagnosed with hypertension in the 2016 to 2019 Canadian Health Measures Survey.<sup>6</sup> The prevalence of poorly controlled hypertension both in Canada and worldwide can be attributed to a variety of reasons, including cost of medications, side effects, lack of patient education, and therapeutic inertia, in which health care providers do not to initiate or intensify therapy when goals are not reached.<sup>7,8</sup>

Patients with resistant hypertension, which is defined as BP above target despite 3 or more BP-lowering drugs at optimal doses, form an estimated 10% to 30% of the population of people with hypertension. Large epidemiological studies have found that patients with resistant hypertension are at greater risk of experiencing major adverse cardiovascular events and developing chronic kidney disease. In addition, barriers to pharmacological treatment

Figure 1: Flexible, Multielectrode Catheter Component of the Simplicity Spyral Renal Denervation System



Source: Reprinted with permission from Medtronic Canada.



adherence are prevalent among patients with resistant hypertension. <sup>10</sup> Therefore, this subgroup may benefit from a nonpharmacological intervention such as RDN. Other people who might benefit from RDN include patients who prefer nonpharmacological approaches to antihypertensive treatment and those who are intolerant or experience severe side effects due to their current medication regimen.

#### **Current Practice**

The current approach to managing hypertension in Canada consists of lifestyle modifications and pharmacological therapy. According to 2020 guidelines from Hypertension Canada, first-line intervention for hypertension involves health behaviour change, with recommendations including weight reduction, physical exercise, and decreasing alcohol and sodium intake.<sup>11</sup>

Figure 2: Simplicity G3 Generator That Delivers Radiofrequency Pulses to the Treatment Location



Source: Reprinted with permission from Medtronic Canada.



Medications such as angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers, calcium channel blockers, and longer-acting thiazide-like diuretic are considered for adults with uncomplicated hypertension. Hypertension Canada recommends that patients with resistant hypertension be administered agents such as spironolactone, bisoprolol, doxazosin, amiloride, eplerenone, or clonidine in addition to their baseline regimen. Evidence supporting the use of device-based interventions such as renal sympathetic denervation is considered inconclusive by the Hypertension Canada Guidelines Committee.

Similarly, 2018 joint guidelines from the European Society of Cardiology and the European Society of Hypertension recommend that device-based therapies not be used for the routine treatment of hypertension except in the context of clinical studies. <sup>12</sup> In an updated position statement, the European Society of Hypertension deems RDN a safe and evidence-based alternative or additive therapeutic option that can be incorporated into a patient's treatment plan, with consideration to their preferences, stage of hypertensive disease, and comorbidities. <sup>13</sup>

#### What Is the Evidence?

Results published in 2020 from the SPYRAL HTN-OFF MED pivotal trial show that in the absence of antihypertensive medications, participants in the treatment group experienced a statistically significant reduction in 24-hour ambulatory systolic BP as well as office systolic BP from baseline to 3 months after the procedure. The SPYRAL HTN-ON MED proof-of-concept trial investigated the efficacy and safety of the RDN system in patients with uncontrolled hypertension on antihypertensive medications. Similarly, participants who underwent the procedure experienced a statistically significant reduction in office and 24-hour ambulatory BP from baseline to 6 months compared with those in the sham control group. Ambulatory BP monitoring involves several recordings from a device worn continuously over a 24- or 48-hour period and is used to confirm or rule out the effect of white coat hypertension, a phenomenon in which a patient's BP is temporarily inflated due to anxiety caused by being in a clinical setting. Patients with white coat hypertension are not considered candidates for RDN. Hypertension can be a chronic condition; therefore, a limitation of these trials is the short 3-month and 6-month follow-up periods, which may not be long enough to elucidate the true treatment effect of RDN.

The Global SYMPLICITY Registry, with 2,600 enrolled participants, evaluates long-term outcomes associated with Symplicity Spyral and first-generation Symplicity Flex; a 3-year follow-up analysis found that participants who underwent the intervention sustained a statistically significant reduction in office and 24-hour ambulatory systolic BP as well as a reduction in the use of some antihypertensive medication classes.<sup>17</sup> A limitation of the single-arm registry is the lack of control or sham group for comparison.<sup>17</sup>

The earlier sham-controlled SYMPLICITY HTN-3 trial investigated the efficacy of the first-generation Symplicity system in patients with uncontrolled hypertension. <sup>18</sup> Similar to the SPYRAL HTN-ON MED trial, participants stayed on their prescribed medication regimen for the duration of the study. <sup>15,18</sup> However, the selection criteria for SYMPLICITY HTN-3 was more restrictive because only participants with severe resistant hypertension on 3 or more antihypertensive medications of different classes, of which 1 had to be a diuretic, were enrolled. <sup>18</sup> However, SPYRAL HTN-ON MED included participants who were on a regimen of



1, 2, or 3 antihypertensive medication classes. <sup>15</sup> Ultimately, both the intervention and sham control groups in the SYMPLICITY HTN-3 trial experienced reductions in office and 24-hour ambulatory systolic BP, but the study did not show a significant reduction of systolic BP after renal artery denervation compared with a sham control. <sup>18</sup>

# Safety

No major safety events related to the device or study were observed during the SPYRAL HTN-OFF MED or SPYRAL HTN-ON MED trials. <sup>14,15</sup> No long-term safety concerns were observed following the procedure in the Global SYMPLICITY Registry analysis, which contained data from those treated with the older Symplicity Flex catheter. <sup>17</sup> However, data derived from the use of the older, single-electrode Symplicity Flex catheter may not be as relevant when evaluating the safety profile of the newer, multielectrode Symplicity Spyral model. <sup>17</sup> Medtronic states that there are some uncommon risks associated with RDN: nausea or vomiting, temporary complications when using pain or anxiety medication during or following the procedure, and complications such as pain or bruising at the catheter insertion site. <sup>19</sup> These risks are similar to those of other diagnostic and treatment procedures that involve arterial catheterization. <sup>19</sup>

# Availability in Canada

Renal sympathetic denervation systems and device-based interventions for hypertension in general have not yet been approved for use in Canada. The Symplicity Spyral RDN system is limited to clinical investigational use as of the writing of this report. According to Medtronic, the procedure is approved for commercial use in more than 60 countries around the world.

#### What Does It Cost?

The anticipated cost of the Symplicity Spyral RDN system in Canada was not identified. Symplicity Spyral is designed to be used either an alternative or adjunctive surgical intervention to standard pharmacological therapy, with the main economic and planning considerations for implementation being operating room resources, time for the operating physician to learn and set up the generator for treatment, and the cost of the system itself. In the recent SPYRAL HTN-OFF MED trial, the average procedure time was approximately 100 minutes. The catheter component, along with the additional guidewire used to deliver the catheter to the renal artery, is single use and intended for 1 bilateral procedure.

Using findings from the SYMPLICITY HTN-3 trial and thresholds recommended by Australian reimbursement authorities, a 2018 economic evaluation found that RDN is a cost-effective intervention for treatment-resistant hypertension compared with standard care alone, with the condition that it is targeted to patients whose 10-year predicted cardiovascular risk was at least 13.2% initially.<sup>22</sup> Although RDN systems have a higher upfront cost compared with most antihypertensive medications, the long-term costs associated with hospitalizations and



complications due to poorly controlled hypertension must be considered when evaluating the cost-effectiveness of devices like Simplicity Spyral.

## **Related Developments**

Another RDN system, Paradise by ReCor Medical, uses ultrasound instead of radiofrequency waves to decrease the activity of the renal sympathetic nervous system. Investigators of the ongoing RADIANCE-HTN randomized controlled trial found that among patients in the mild-to-moderate hypertension cohort, participants who underwent RDN experienced a statistically significant reduction in daytime ambulatory systolic BP compared with those assigned to the sham procedure.<sup>23</sup> Participants discontinued antihypertensive medications 4 weeks before the recording of baseline measurements and stayed off of them throughout the study.<sup>23</sup> The BP-lowering effect was observed after they restarted antihypertensive medications.<sup>24</sup> Recent results from another sham-controlled trial in patients resistant to 3 or more antihypertensive medications show that participants who underwent ultrasound RDN experienced statistically significant reductions in office and ambulatory systolic BP.<sup>25</sup> Lastly, in a head-to-head randomized trial, ultrasound-based RDN was found to be similar to radiofrequency-based RDN (of the main arteries, accessories, and side branches) among patients with resistant hypertension.<sup>26</sup>

RDN has the potential to treat other conditions that are linked to sympathetic nerve activation, such as heart failure, atrial fibrillation, and chronic kidney disease. A first-in-person study investigated the efficacy and safety of RDN in participants with chronic systolic heart failure. Although participants symptomatically improved with no complications following the procedure, they did not experience a significant reduction in BP. Authors of the ERADICATE-AF trial found that RDN in conjunction with catheter ablation increased the likelihood of freedom from atrial fibrillation compared with catheter ablation alone. Catheter ablation is a standard procedure for patients who do not respond to pharmacological treatments for atrial fibrillation. In terms of limitations, the trial lacked a formal sham control for RDN and excluded participants who did not have comorbid hypertension; therefore, the results cannot be extrapolated to all patients with atrial fibrillation.

## **Looking Ahead**

Hypertension is a global condition, so there is a strong rationale for developing and adopting nonpharmacological treatments to offer alternative therapeutic options to people with uncontrolled hypertension. Several past iterations of RDN systems, including the previous generation manufactured by Medtronic, have failed to demonstrate efficacy in sham-controlled trials.<sup>29</sup> In contrast, recent trials for Symplicity Spyral have shown more promising results.

As more long-term efficacy and safety data for devices like Symplicity Spyral emerge, there may be a revision in recommendations regarding device-based therapies for the management of hypertension. For example, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence is currently updating their guidance on renal sympathetic denervation for resistant



hypertension.<sup>30</sup> The high level of interest in this modality of hypertension management may increase the pace of technological development. However, factors such as cost — especially when compared to low-cost standard care options like angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors — can be barriers to the rapid uptake of RDN systems even as more robust clinical data become available. Further evaluation of how RDN may mitigate the long-term complications and health care utilization costs associated with uncontrolled hypertension would aid in decision-making.



#### References

- 1. Choi KH, Choi SH. Current status and future perspectives of renal denervation. Korean Circ J. 2021;27(2) (no pagination).
- 2. Medtronic. Simplicity Spyral™ multi-electrode renal denervation catheter. 2019: https://global.medtronic.com/content/dam/medtronic-com/products/cardiovascular/rdn/documents/UC201810474a-ML-RDN-Symplicity-Spyral-Tech-Sheet.pdf. Accessed 2021 Nov 19.
- Medtronic. Symplicity G3™ renal denervation RF generator. 2019: https://global.medtronic.com/content/dam/medtronic-com/products/cardiovascular/rdn/documents/UC201710473a-ML-RDN-Symplicity-G3-Generator-Tech-Specs.pdf. Accessed 2021 Nov 19.
- Medtronic. Medtronic Symplicity Spyral™ Multi-Electrode Renal Denervation Catheter. 2018: https://manuals.medtronic.com/content/dam/emanuals/cardio/ M967336A001DOC3\_AA\_view.pdf. Accessed 2021 Nov 26.
- 5. World Health Organization. Hypertension. 2021; https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hypertension. Accessed 2021 Nov 26.
- Blood pressure of adults, 2016-2019. Ottawa (ON): Statistics Canada; 2021: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-625-x/2021001/article/00001-eng.htm. Accessed 2021 Nov 26.
- 7. Improving medication adherence among patients with hypertension. Atlanta (GA): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2017: https://millionhearts.hhs.gov/files/TipSheet\_HCP\_MedAdherence.pdf. Accessed 2021 Dec 1.
- 8. Lebeau J-P, Cadwallader J-S, Aubin-Auger I, et al. The concept and definition of therapeutic inertia in hypertension in primary care: a qualitative systematic review. BMC Fam Pract. 2014;15(1):130. PubMed
- 9. Hiremath S, Sapir-Pichhadze R, Nakhla M, et al. Hypertension Canada's 2020 Evidence Review and Guidelines for the Management of Resistant Hypertension. Can J Cardiol. 2020;36(5):625-634. PubMed
- 10. Durand H, Hayes P, Morrissey EC, et al. Medication adherence among patients with apparent treatment-resistant hypertension: systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Hypertens*. 2017;35(12):2346-2357. PubMed
- 11. Rabi DM, McBrien KA, Sapir-Pichhadze R, et al. Hypertension Canada's 2020 Comprehensive Guidelines for the Prevention, Diagnosis, Risk Assessment, and Treatment of Hypertension in Adults and Children. Can J Cardiol. 2020;36(5):596-624. PubMed
- 12. Williams B, Mancia G, Spiering W, et al. 2018 ESC/ESH Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension. Eur Heart J. 2018;39(33):3021-3104. PubMed
- 13. Schmieder RE, Mahfoud F, Mancia G, et al. European Society of Hypertension position paper on renal denervation 2021. J Hypertens. 2021;39(9):1733-1741. PubMed
- Bohm M, Kario K, Kandzari DE, et al. Efficacy of catheter-based renal denervation in the absence of antihypertensive medications (SPYRAL HTN-OFF MED Pivotal): a multicentre, randomised, sham-controlled trial. Lancet. 2020;395(10234):1444-1451. PubMed
- 15. Kandzari DE, Bohm M, Mahfoud F, et al. Effect of renal denervation on blood pressure in the presence of antihypertensive drugs: 6-month efficacy and safety results from the SPYRAL HTN-ON MED proof-of-concept randomised trial. *Lancet.* 2018;391(10137):2346-2355. PubMed
- 16. Healthlink BC. Automated ambulatory blood pressure monitoring. 2021: https://www.healthlinkbc.ca/pregnancy-parenting/pregnancy/your-health-during-pregnancy/automated-ambulatory-blood-pressure. Accessed 2021 Nov 26.
- Mahfoud F, Böhm M, Schmieder R, et al. Effects of renal denervation on kidney function and long-term outcomes: 3-year follow-up from the Global SYMPLICITY Registry. Eur Heart J. 2019;40(42):3474-3482. PubMed
- 18. Bhatt DL, Kandzari DE, O'Neill WW, et al. A Controlled Trial of Renal Denervation for Resistant Hypertension. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(15):1393-1401. PubMed
- 19. Medtronic. Indications, safety, and warnings Medtronic renal denervation procedure. 2020; https://global.medtronic.com/xg-en/healthcare-professionals/therapies -procedures/cardiovascular/renal-denervation/support-resources/indications-safety-warnings.html. Accessed 2021 Nov 26.
- 20. SPYRAL PIVOTAL SPYRAL HTN-OFF MED clinical investigation plan. Santa Rosa (CA): Medtronic Vascular Inc.; 2020: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ProvidedDocs/49/NCT02439749/Prot\_000.pdf. Accessed 2021 Nov 26.
- 21. Medtronic. Medtronic study shows patients with high blood pressure are interested in an interventional procedure treatment option. 2021; https://news.medtronic.com/2021-11-04-Medtronic-study-shows-patients-with-high-blood-pressure-are-interested-in-an-interventional-procedure-treatment-option. Accessed 2021 Nov 25.
- Chowdhury EK, Reid CM, Zomer E, Kelly DJ, Liew D. Cost-Effectiveness of Renal Denervation Therapy for Treatment-Resistant Hypertension: A Best Case Scenario. Am J Hypertens. 2018;31(10):1156-1163. PubMed
- 23. Azizi M, Schmieder RE, Mahfoud F, et al. Endovascular ultrasound renal denervation to treat hypertension (RADIANCE-HTN SOLO): a multicentre, international, single-blind, randomised, sham-controlled trial. *Lancet*. 2018;391(10137):2335-2345. PubMed
- 24. Azizi M, Schmieder RE, Mahfoud F, et al. Six-Month Results of Treatment-Blinded Medication Titration for Hypertension Control After Randomization to Endovascular Ultrasound Renal Denervation or a Sham Procedure in the RADIANCE-HTN SOLO Trial. Circulation. 2019;139(22):2542-2553. PubMed
- 25. Azizi M, Sanghvi K, Saxena M, et al. Ultrasound renal denervation for hypertension resistant to a triple medication pill (RADIANCE-HTN TRIO): a randomised, multicentre, single-blind, sham-controlled trial. *Lancet*. 2021;397(10293):2476-2486. PubMed
- Fengler K, Rommel KP, Blazek S, et al. A Three-Arm Randomized Trial of Different Renal Denervation Devices and Techniques in Patients With Resistant Hypertension (RADIOSOUND-HTN). Circulation. 2019;139(5):590-600. PubMed



- 27. Davies JE, Manisty CH, Petraco R, et al. First-in-man safety evaluation of renal denervation for chronic systolic heart failure: primary outcome from REACH-Pilot study. Int J Cardiol. 2013;162(3):189-192. PubMed
- 28. Steinberg JS, Shabanov V, Ponomarev D, et al. Effect of Renal Denervation and Catheter Ablation vs Catheter Ablation Alone on Atrial Fibrillation Recurrence Among Patients With Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation and Hypertension: The ERADICATE-AF Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. 2020;323(3):248-255. PubMed
- 29. Cairns E. The future of renal denervation. Evaluate 2021; https://www.evaluate.com/vantage/articles/interviews/future-renal-denervation. Accessed 2021 Nov 26.
- 30. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Percutaneous transluminal renal sympathetic denervation for resistant hypertension (in development). 2021: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/indevelopment/gid-ipg10221. Accessed 2021 Nov 26.